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August 1, 2023​

Dear Fellow Westborough Members, Families, and Friends:​

Welcome to the fourth volume in our e-publication A Diamond in the Rough:
Westborough’s Rich & Resilient History.  In this volume, we report on the Club’s journey
through the 1950s, including the people and events that would define Westborough’s
character to this very day. Tony Henschel arrived on the scene and would guide the Club’s
golf operations for nearly three decades. Ralph Guyer, who had been on the greens and
grounds staff since 1928, was appointed Superintendent of Maintenance and moved with
his family to the house on the property – he would serve in that position for 20+ more
years. Fred “Whitey” Barnett became head caddie master, a position he faithfully held for
the next 50 years. The golf course was shortened due to construction of the Henry Hough
School and Webster Groves Christian Church, and many of the golf holes were reshaped
during this decade. Perhaps the most notable aspect of the Club in the 1950s was the
short-lived Westborough Round Robin, an amateur golf tournament that, during its brief
five-year run, brought the most accomplished amateurs in our Country, including Arnold
Palmer, Mary Ann Villegas, and many other prominent names to Westborough and, with
them, tremendous notoriety and prestige.​

As mentioned with regard to each volume in our publication, historical context is
important to appreciating the events of which you read. The decade of the 1950s was all
about post-war “booms,” including economic prosperity, growth of suburbs, shifts in pop
culture and entertainment, expanding means of transportation, and advancements in
technology, all which would impact the Club, and set the stage for Club life in the
turbulent 1960s. Enjoy!

Hannah Rowland
Communications Manager

Rachel Barr
Membership & Marketing Director

Foreword

Jim Capek
General Manager
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Ted Zimmermann
Club Historian

Clubhouse Entrance



Tony Henschel, head pro at
Indian Meadows C.C., is hired
as head pro at Westborough
where he would serve for
nearly three decades.​

April 1954

Ralph Guyer takes the lead as
WCC Superintendent, a
department he would lead for  
more than 20 years. Major
changes and improvements to
the course were made during
his tenure. 

June 1952

Sept. 7, 1950
University of Arizona golf team
captain Jim Jensen scores a hole-
in-one with his pitching wedge
on 95 yard par 3 No. 16 in the
practice round for the inaugural
Westborough Round Robin.

The Club continues its
support of the local
community by continuing to
permit the Webster Groves
golf team to play its home
matches at Westborough.

March 1950 TIMELINE
THE TIME TO BUILD
1949 - 1959
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June 1954
Westborough hosts its fourth
and final Round Robin, this
time featuring future legend,
Arnold Palmer.

Dec. 1959

Westborough breaks
ground on an expanded pro  
shop, which was completed
in June 1955. 

Nov. 1954

May 31, 1956
Walter Pfeffer, Sr., leader of the
investment group that founded
Westborough Country Club as
established in 1928 and its president
during his group's period of ownership,
dies suddenly in New York at the age of
68. After selling the Club to its members
in 1948, he went on to live for seven years
in New York where he had been a
resident of Southampton and was a
governor of the Southampton Yacht Club.

Club members are informed in
the Chatterbox of a major rule
change regarding the ability to
now clean their ball on the
putting green.

Feb. 1956
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Westborough members
approve a $100,000 renovation
project for improvements to
the pool, bar, grill room, men's
lounge, locker rooms, and
more.



A DECADE OF BUILDING
The decade of the 1950s was one of prosperity, in many ways much like the 1920s:​




Westborough would begin the decade still in its infancy as a member-owned Club.  It
had an operating loss in 1949 resulting from inevitable start-up costs in its first full year
of operation.  Those costs included renovations to the clubhouse as well as the greens
and grounds. However, despite the operating loss, important progress was made to
improve the Club’s financial condition.  While cash resources were depleted at the end
of 1949, the Club was able to substantially reduce its indebtedness incurred in the
purchase of Club properties from the original amount of $350,000 down to $196,500. 
 The maturity dates on the debt had also been deferred.  However, the realities facing
the Club were squarely addressed by President John Arnold as he concluded the
annual notice to stockholders in February 1950:​

A WORLD WAR HAD
RECENTLY ENDED​

TRANSPORTATION CHANGES
PROVIDED NEW FREEDOM
AND MOBILITY​

PEOPLE WERE ENJOYING
FINANCIAL SUCCESS​

FAMILIES WERE BOOMING​

SUBURBS WERE GROWING​

TECHNOLOGY WAS ENHANCING
LIVES AND LIFESTYLES​

ENTERTAINMENT OPTIONS
WERE FLOURISHING

LEISURE ACTIVITIES WERE IN
HIGH DEMAND!

Mission #1:
MUST fill
membership!
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By June 1950, Arnold’s admonition regarding membership had
been heeded, and the Club had increased to 288 members,
leaving only 12 openings, which was reported by Club Director
Jack Purdum in a June 16 news article.  Interestingly, Purdum
said that, despite part of the Club’s property having been sold
for a school and a church, he did not believe that the church
would ever be built.  Sadly, he was wrong.

By mid-1951, 29 new members had purchased shares in the Club
and an additional 25 membership shares were issued to old
members who elected to take extra shares in lieu of their claims
as participants in the underwriting group.  With this progress, it
was presumed that the attainment of a full complement of 300
stock-owning members would be achieved that year and that it
would be wise to amend the Club’s by-laws to permit limited
assessments for debt retirement.  The Club’s deeds of trust at
the time were as follows:​

First deed of trust to First National Bank – $9,500​

Third deed of trust to Reardon Realty Company – $15,000​

Second deed of trust to Walter Pfeffer – $150,000​

With that action, coupled with the definite prospect of a further
increase in operating profit, the board felt that the Club’s
financial future appeared more secure than at any time since its
inception.​

EN ROUTE TO A 
long and happy future

Membership levels were high during the 1950s, despite the
newness of the member-owned Club and the understandable
uncertainty that a prospective member may have about the
future of the Club with its heavy debt burden.  Regardless, in May
1952, the membership was closed and any new applications
would be held until an opening would arise.  By June 1955, the
total membership level had increased to 325, with 295 spots
taken.  A year later that number had increased to 300 “senior”
(meaning regular, full, stock-owning) and the swimming
memberships were full.  In May 1957, all memberships were full
again and closed with a waitlist.

Jinxed
ourselves with

this
prediction!
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Post-Dispatch | June 16, 1950
News-Times | May 7, 1952



Post-Dispatch | April 9, 1950

CLASS OF 1950

CLUB
PERSONNEL

                                saw the arrival of iconic Club personnel who would for decades thereafter shape
Westborough’s golf experience. What had been a bit of a revolving door in terms of head golf professionals
would stabilize under the leadership of Tony Henschel, the greens and grounds were solidified under the care of
long-time Westborough greens and grounds staff member Ralph Guyer, and Fred “Whitey” Barnett would
become the caddie master and faithfully serve in that capacity for the next 50 years.

When the calendar flipped from 1949 to 1950, the Club renewed Walter Ambo’s contract to remain
Westborough’s head pro. Ambo continued to bring district competitions to Westborough and to focus on
teaching.​

However, in August 1950, Ambo left to become the head pro at Meadow Brook and his assistant, LeRoy Trotter,
became Westborough’s new head pro. Trotter, the former Springfield, Missouri, amateur champion had joined
Westborough as an assistant in July 1949.   Trotter was a tremendous tournament golfer who, during his time at
Westborough, regularly competed in local and state-wide events, winning the 1950 Eastern Missouri PGA
Assistant Professional Tournament.  He also continued Ambo’s legacy as a teaching professional, especially with
his clinics for the women members of the Club. One of his group clinics was featured in April 1952.​

ICONIC

GET A GRIP! Ambo teaches eager students the importance of the grip in golf.

The 1950s
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Post-Dispatch | April 27, 1952
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THE GREAT
Tony Henschel

By late 1953, it was evident that Trotter had shortcomings as the club’s head pro, but the Westborough board,
nonetheless, decided to extend his contract for one year after Trotter committed to improvement. Nevertheless, by
April 1954, the Club was pursuing a new head pro and among the leading candidates was a young head
professional at Indian Meadows named Tony Henschel. Henschel was available as a candidate at that time only
because his club was being sold.  Among the final four candidates, Henschel was selected and accepted the
position. 

"Believe me, he is well

qualified for his position..."

"Tony has a P.G.A rating

as a Class A Pro..."

Here is the write-up from the April 1954 Westborough Chatterbox announcing Henschel’s hiring:
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Westborough Chatterbox | April 1954

Globe-Democrat | Sept 23, 1958Globe-Democrat | May 23, 1957Globe-Democrat | April 2, 1955



During his years at Westborough, Henschel
would go on to mentor assistant pros like
Phil Hewitt, Frank Keller, Carl Gieson, and
Roger Froesel, among many others. Keller
was a fantastic golfer who set the
Westborough course record of 61 in
September 1958 after only a few months
earlier setting the Old Warson course record
of 64 when he qualified for the US Open.
Keller would become Normandie’s head pro
in January 1959.  Geison was also an
accomplished professional who scored an
ace on Westborough’s old No. 16 in a unique
1-2-3 scoring with his playing partners. He
would become the head pro at North Shore
Country Club in June 1959. Hewitt, who grew
up playing at Greenbriar and was an
assistant pro at Sunset before initially joining
Westborough, would later return to
Westborough as its head pro in 1985.​

THE CLUB IN 1954 WAS UNDOUBTEDLY THRILLED WITH
THE CHANCE TO HIRE HENSCHEL, BUT LITTLE DID

THEY KNOW THAT HE WOULD SPEND NEARLY 30 YEARS
AT THE CLUB, RETIRING DECEMBER 31, 1982. 

Henschel’s caddie master (likely his initial
one) in 1955 was Frank’s brother Harold
Keller. Fred “Whitey” Barnett would assume
the caddie master role in 1957.​
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Post-Dispatch | June 3, 1958

Globe-Democrat | Sept. 19, 1958 Globe-Democrat | April 30, 1956

L-R:  Charlie Beano (Asst. Caddie Master),
Whitey Barnett (Caddie Master), Frank
Keller (Asst. Pro)​



Construction of new Pro Shop
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Old Pro Shop

New Pro Shop11

BUILDING A NEW
After being at Westborough for a year, Henschel recognized the shortcomings of the existing pro
shop and approached Club President Ross Lillard with the notion of building an addition onto the
existing structure.  Certainly cost would be an obstacle, so Henschel used as many in-house
resources as he could. Enlisting the help of his own staff, along with help from Club member and
mechanical engineer L. A. Foster, and Club Superintendent Ralph Guyer, the team drew up plans
and performed the construction work necessary in light of the project's tight budget. Ground was
broken for the new pro shop in November 1954, and it was completed in June 1955. The new shop
provided much-needed retail display space, greater bag storage, and greater convenience to the
members.   ​

Under Henschel’s direction, and with
board approval, in July 1954 the Club
permitted the use of what were then
called ​golf mobiles!

Globe-Democrat  | June 23, 1955



The strength that Henschel brought to the golfing operations was matched by that of                              , who was
appointed Superintendent of Maintenance in June 1952. The Westborough board had determined that it was
necessary to make a change for the betterment of the golf course and obtain a new greenskeeper, as the present
greenskeeper was not doing the work to keep the course in good condition. Guyer joined the greenskeeper staff at
Westborough in 1929, the same year he married Ruth Billingsley and the same year that the stock market crashed! At
that time he was caddying at Sunset Country Club and learned from the caddie master that they were hiring at the
new Westborough Country Club. Pfeffer had retained John Westgreen, who was the head greenskeeper for Westwood
at the Glendale site. When World War II came around Pfeffer asked Guyer if he could find a supplemental job because
the Club's finances were getting low, so, in 1940, Guyer took a job as a police officer with the City of Kirkwood but
continued to supervise at the golf course. When he became full-time Superintendent, he left the police force and
moved with his family (wife Ruth, sons Ron and Gale) into the house on the Club grounds that was at the time
inhabited by the Club manager, William Ludwig. Recall that Ludwig was Walter Pfeffer’s assistant manager before the
sale of the Club to the members and was kept on in the acting manager role after the sale. Ludwig was advised that he
would need to find other living quarters. For this reason, he was given additional compensation up to $75 per month to
make amends for moving him out of the house.

At the time the Guyers moved into their new home at Westborough, the house was in poor condition. This was difficult
for Mrs. Guyer, as she was very fond of the home that they left in Kirkwood. However, she and Ralph fixed the place up
and made it a home for many years.  Ron was 19 and Gale was 12 when they moved into the house. Ron didn't live there
much as he had gone off to college at LeTourneau Technical Institute in Longview, Texas, and then graduated from
Missouri School of Mines and Metallurgy. He later became a nuclear metallurgist with Lockheed and worked on the
Space Shuttle. Gale, still living at home with his family, worked with his father on the greenskeeper staff.​

Ralph was instrumental in the 1950s in making countless changes to the course and property overall that were
necessitated by the loss of the school and church properties, the lack of proper maintenance during his predecessor’s
tenure, and by the vision for the Club developed by its new members/owners. He was also active within the National
Golf Course Superintendent’s Association.

HARD-WORKING
Ralph Guyer

RALPH GUYER
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Greenskeeper Staff – 1950s​
Arthur, Ruben, Ralph Guyer, Jim

Heinlein, Gale Guyer



The 200 yard par 3 No. 4 hole (that went along
Sappington) was gone and another par 3 (or
greater) hole would need to be created.  
No. 2 was shortened by about 80 yards from
the tee.
The green for No. 3 would need to be moved (it
was in May 1950 and again twice at later dates).
No. 5 would be shortened substantially off the
tee, and due to the church property, at the
green as well.  
No. 8 green would also need to be moved. 
No. 9 tee box would eventually move forward
over 100 yards and cause the hole to become a
par 3 instead of a par 4, although it remained a
par 4 temporarily until 1953 due to the timing
of the construction of the church.
By January 1947 a new 155 yard par 3 had been
built on the back nine between No. 11 green
and No. 12 tee, but today's (new) No. 4 was not
built yet. This meant that, for a brief period,
what was originally (and is now) No. 10 and No.
11 were respectively No. 9 and No. 10, with the
course being par 37 out and 33 in. 

The Westborough course was under constant
change in the 1950s, especially in the early part

of the decade.  The loss of the school and
church properties meant:

COURSE UNDERCOURSE UNDER
CONSTRUCTIONCONSTRUCTION

It was important that the new No. 4 hole be built on the front nine holes so that, once again, the
No. 9 green would end at the clubhouse.  While the par remained at 70 initially, it was reduced to
69 when No. 9 was shortened due to the church and became a par 3, and thereafter, to par 68 when
No. 5 was shortened at tee and its green moved west so that it became a par 4.   This information is
confirmed by newspaper reporting at the time, although we have not yet found scorecards or aerial
photos to confirm this layout.​

Globe-Democrat | July 14, 1955

Post-Dispatch | July 10, 1951
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No. 5 green was originally where No. 8
green is today. Both greens were moved
west due to construction of the church.
No. 5 was finished in 1954.​

NO. 3 GREENNO. 3 GREEN
The No. 3 green was moved in 1950 due to
the school property.  It was subsequently
moved at least twice more, and appears to
be under construction in this undated
photo from the 1950s.  Note that it appears
that the existing No. 3 green is at left. ​

A NEW NO. 4A NEW NO. 4
The first mention of a new No. 4 on the
front nine to replace the old No. 4 that ran
along Sappington Rd. was during the
minutes of the December 1952 board
meeting. The hole is believed to have
been completed sometime late in 1953,
with its green just west of No. 6.​

NO. 5 GREENNO. 5 GREEN
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NO. 13/17NO. 13/17 Work began in 1956 to split the green shared by No. 13 and No. 17, with a
new No. 13 green just to the east and a new putting surface for the
remaining No. 17 green. ​Although taken over a decade later in 1968, the
bottom right photo below shows the finished and separated 17
(foreground) and 13 (background) greens.

HEADS UP!HEADS UP!

For over 40 years,
No. 13 and No. 17
shared a green!

#13 Flag

#17 Flag
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NO.14NO.14
Although it was not part of the
major changes in the 1950s, here
is a photo of No. 14 taken during
that era.​

NO.15NO.15 Work on the creek at No. 15
was performed in May 1959.​

16



NO. 18NO. 18 No. 18 green was moved to the right in April 1956, making the hole a dogleg right and
lengthening it.  The location of the previous green became the practice green just in
front of the old pro shop.​

ORIGINAL NO.
18 LAYOUT

NEW DOGLEG
RIGHT LAYOUT

OLD NO. 18 GREEN WITH
WESTBOROUGH'S

TRADITIONAL DECK
CHAIRS FOR GALLERY17



THE NURSERYTHE NURSERY
The area just to the north of the old No. 7
green, roughly where today's short game
practice area is located, was used as a
“nursery” by Guyer and his staff. It was cut
the length of a green and used for
repairing the greens and had piles of top
dressing, fertilizer, and other items needed
to repair the course.
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Jack Purdum to  Bob Burnes

By 1950, the golf world was alive and well once again, with its players,
professionals, and staff back from war service and new stars dotting the
horizon. Ben Hogan and Slammin’ Sammy Snead, both who dominated
the sport in the 1940s, were at the forefront in the 1950s. They were joined
by an amateur golfer at Wake Forest University named Arnold Palmer,
who, with his eventual “Army," would burst on the scene. Palmer
transformed golf in many ways, including the style of its attire — cotton
shirts, lightweight tan trousers, and oxford shoes. Prior to winning the
1954 US Amateur title, Palmer was once a competitor here at our Club in
the famous Round Robin tournaments, which ran from 1950-1954. ​

At the July 19, 1950 regular meeting of the Westborough Board of
Directors, Jack Purdum reported on a plan to hold a round robin golf
tournament in September, limited to 16 players, with the club donating
$100 in US savings bonds as prizes. Purdum wanted an event that was
“classy” and that was structured in a way that competitors weren’t
quickly eliminated to maintain enthusiasm and interest throughout the
entire event. With that in mind, he mimicked the Goodall Palm Beach
Round Robin, which had an unusual match-play style scoring system
where a field of players (e.g., 16) would earn or lose points on each hole
based on his score versus his two (or three) opponents for that round. A
player scored "+1" for each hole won and "−1" for each hole lost to each
opponent. The groups would be shuffled after every round so that each
player played one round against every other player. Ultimately, the player
with the most points after all rounds was the winner.​

The idea gained traction, and only a week later, was publicized in a local
newspaper.  Bob Burnes, the legendary sports columnist of the Globe-
Democrat, covered the opening of the Round Robin and was highly
supportive of the event.​

“We’re gonna have a golf tournament at our place. I think we’ll have
some fun with it. Frankly, I don’t know the first thing about running a
tournament, about publicizing it or anything else. But if you guys will
tell us what you want us to do to help you, we’ll do our darndest. Then
maybe we can all have some fun.”​

EXTRA EXTRA!

Read all about it!

The Iconic
ROUND ROBIN
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Globe-Democrat | July 26, 1950

Globe-Democrat | Sept. 9, 1950



JIMMY JACKSON        JIM TOM BLAIR III        BOB COCHRAN

HORD HARDIN       JIM BENSON        JACK GEISS

The field of 16 for this event was comprised of many now historic figures in
local amateur golf history, including.... ​

 The event was eventually won by Howard Zachrist of Meadow Brook.  ​
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Globe-Democrat | Sept. 9, 1950

Post-Dispatch | Sept. 10, 1950 Post-Dispatch | Sept. 11, 1950

Post-Dispatch | Sept. 11, 1950



SUCCESS GROWS
FOR

Thanks to the success of the inaugural
Round Robin in 1950, the 1951 event had an
even more competitive field that included
the St. Louis District champ along with many
other state champions. Again, Bob Burnes
covered the event with great enthusiasm. ​

"...if you like good
golf, Westborough is
the place to be this

week end."

SOME THINGS
NEVER CHANGE!

Daley Morey, the Southern Amateur
champion, won the event but only barely. It
took a missed short put by reigning District
champion Bob Cochran to do so. That
missed putt actually victimized Jimmy
Jackson and gave Morey the title.​

Round Robin
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Globe-Democrat | May 24, 1951

Globe-Democrat | May 26, 1951 Post-Dispatch | May 28, 1951



Jimmy Jackson, the Missouri State Champion who won the District Amateur
Championship at Westborough in 1940, claimed the top spot at the 1952
Round Robin on the men’s side, while Mary Ann Villegas, the 19 year old New
Orleans phenom, was the first winner of the women’s title. The event’s final
day had a 1,000 person gallery enjoying the competition.​

Here come the champions!
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J IMMY JACKSON MARY ANN VILLEGAS

Post-Dispatch | May 26, 1952

Post-Dispatch | May 23, 1952

With two successful Round Robins now completed, Westborough enhanced
the event for 1952 by adding a women’s field, which would consist of nine
players although the men’s competition would remain at 16. The Club also
revised the invitation process by adding “automatic” invitations to the prior
year’s top eight finishers and focusing on other states’ amateur champs with
an “eventual goal [being] the Walker Cup-type of amateur player.”​

Post-Dispatch | May 21, 1952

Post-Dispatch | May 22, 1952

Post-Dispatch | May 26, 1952

Post-Dispatch | May 26, 1952



Westborough announced that, despite
losing money on the Round Robin its
first two years, the Club expected to
make a profit this year and would give
that profit to charity. The Club also
announced that the reigning
champions, Jimmy Jackson and Mary
Ann Villegas, would return and that the
format would be the same (16 men & 9
women). When the tournament began
in May, several changes to the course
were expected to create new
challenges. Jack Purdum reported that,
for the first time in many years, the
course would have a “real rough." He
also said that the 100 yard “dew-drop”
No. 16 par 3 was being eliminated in
favor of a new No. 4 par 3, and that the
par 4 No. 17, which many of the golfers
would often drive, was a dog-leg and
about 100 yards longer by using the tee
box from the former No. 16. In the men’s
competition, Dale Morey brought back
the magic from his 1951 Round Robin
victory to claim the championship
again, while Mary Ann Villegas retained
her crown earned in last years win.   ​

WESTBOROUGH FINAL SCORES

IN MARCH
1953,
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Post-Dispatch | May 15, 1953 Globe-Democrat | May 14, 1953

Post-Dispatch | May 17, 1953

Post-Dispatch | May 18, 1953

Globe-Democrat | May 13, 1953 Globe-Democrat | May 18, 1953 Post-Dispatch | May 18, 1953



The 1954 Round Robin was the most memorable of them all,
and sadly the last. With the field getting more competitive
each year, this event brought amazing talent, including
prior Round Robin champ Jimmy Jackson, Bob Moncrief,
and a young Wake Forest University amateur named Arnold
Palmer. While Jimmy Jackson nearly won his second Round
Robin title, it was Hillman Robbins of Memphis who took
the title, although Palmer made a splash when he got an
eagle 2 on No. 11 after driving over the entrance road and
holing out with a wedge. On the ladies’ side, defending
champ Mary Ann Villegas was unable to participate, and
Mary Lena Faulk (the National women’s amateur champion)
was the victor.  ​

It was not uncommon to see Purdum, President Ross Lillard
and Members Bob Matthews, Jack Behr, Lou Foster, Lou
Miller and Gene Reese at Westborough night after night
working on the event. The men at the front gave credit to
the Club members as every member was involved in some
way, particularly in ticket sales. ​

Sadly, in January 1955, the Westborough board decided to
drop the event. While it was difficult to discern the actual
reasoning, it was clear that Ross Lillard, long-time board
member who, along with Purdum, had put his heart and
soul into the event, was diplomatic but irritated that the
board had not renewed the event. Regardless, it brought
some of the most accomplished amateur golfers in history
to our Club for five special years.

BUT THEN...
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Globe-Democrat | January 4, 1955

Globe-Democrat | June 12, 1954

Post-Dispatch | June 13, 1954Post-Dispatch | June 12, 1954



Biggest Fan
One of the most instrumental figures in shaping
Westborough during the 1950s was Ross Lillard, who
joined the Club in 1950, was elected to the board in 1951,
was president for two years (1953-54), and, as chairman of
Westborough’s building committee, oversaw the $150,000
in upgrades to the Club. Along with Jack Purdum, he was
an architect of the Round Robins and was elected
president of the St. Louis District Golf Association in 1957.
Sadly, Ross died suddenly in 1957, but his legacy and
impact survive to this day. Without his tireless efforts to
improve Westborough, we would not have the
tremendous Club that we enjoy today. As a side-note, he
was also named President of the National Lefthanded
Golfers Association in 1952!​

Bye, bye, birdie...

THE ROUND ROBINS

(Well...other than Bob Burnes, of course!)
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Post-Dispatch | June 14, 1954

Post-Dispatch | June 11, 1954
Post-Dispatch | June 14, 1954

Post-Dispatch | August 6, 1952



As with prior decades, Westborough was
blessed with some of the area’s top golfers
throughout the 1950s.  It’s list of club
champions reads like a “who’s who” in the St.
Louis District.

Star Golfers OF THE 1950S

1949 Jack Purdum​

1950-1952 Jack Behr

1953-1955 Jack Geiss

1956 Gene Fehlig

1957 Allan Schmidt

1958 Gene Fehlig

Allan Schmidt

Club Champions

Of particular note is the three-year run of Jack Geiss,
who won the Missouri state title in 1949 and District
titles in 1950 and 1956.  Although he was
predominantly a Norwood member during his golf
career, he competed in all five of the Westborough
Round Robins and set the Westborough course
record of 62 in 1955. ​

Globe-Democrat | July 7, 1955 Post-Dispatch  | June 24, 1954 26



Women’s golf at Westborough continued to be both popular
and prominent in the 1950s, and no one was more
accomplished during the 1950s than the trio of Mrs. W. F.
Anderson (Neva), Mrs. Allan Schmidt (Carol), and Mrs. Don Reid
(Betty).  Anderson was the most accomplished of 
the group, taking the women’s Club championship 
four of the first six years of its competition 
(began in 1954). 

WOMEN'S GOLF AT

WESTBOROUGHWESTBOROUGH

1954 Neva Anderson

1955 Georgia Schwartz

1956-57 Neva Anderson

1958 Carol Schmidt

1959 Neva Anderson

Club Champions

Anderson's love of golf

prompted many outings,

one of which made

headlines for reasons

other than her golfing

skill. In August 1956, Mr.

and Mrs. Anderson played

a marathon of 72 holes at

Westborough in 9½ hours!  

Not a bad pace
of play!

Globe-Democrat | June 21, 1955
Globe-Democrat | Aug. 8, 1956

Globe-Democrat | July 8, 1955
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                                                      was a fantastic golfer who won the St.
Louis women’s medal handicap title in 1953.  A charming story was
reported about that victory as her son, Don, was caddying for her
and sneezed while she was putting. Betty was so relaxed that the
untimely sneeze didn’t disturb her.  She also noted that she had
never taken a private lesson but, instead, started off in one of LeRoy
Trotter’s women’s clinics and went on to play about three times per
week.  ​

Betty Reid
Post-Dispatch |  April 20, 1958

Post-Dispatch |  Aug 8, 1953

Post-Dispatch |  Aug 6, 1953 28Post-Dispatch |  Aug 8, 1953



YOUTH GOLF

Youth golf at Westborough flourished in the 1950s.  
The Webster Groves High School golf team
practiced and competed on our course, the Club
held the District Junior Championships for five
straight years (1951-1955), and Westborough had
two tremendous pee wee golfers, Jim Holtgrieve
and Mick Wellington, arrive on the scene. 
 Interestingly, in the District Junior tournament at
Westborough in 1952, eventual Westborough
assistant pros Roger Froesel (player) and Frank
Keller (caddie) were in a photo from the event!​

START THEM WHILE THEY'RE YOUNG!

A Young Roger Froesel! Post-Dispatch |  July 14, 1953

Post-Dispatch |  July 15, 1952
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Not the last you'll see of the
Holtgrieve/Wellington duo!

Post-Dispatch |  July 12, 1951

Globe -Democrat |  July 10, 1951

Westborough Chatterbox |  Sept. 1957

Post-Dispatch | Aug. 30, 1959 30



The Caddy
MASTERS

One particular youth golfer, Westborough caddie
Don                  , excelled in the 1950s. Dupske, then a
16-year-old Webster Groves High School graduate,
would claim the District caddie championship in 1953
(defeating, among others, a young Phil Hewitt –
future Westborough assistant and head pro). He
went on to compete in the national caddie
tournament where he won a $250 scholarship as a
sportsmanship award. Unfortunately, he was not
eligible in 1954 to defend his crown as District caddie
champ because he had, by then, become the caddie
master at Westborough after a brief stint at Western
Illinois College. The tournament rules prohibited
anyone that worked in a pro shop from competing.
Although he wasn’t eligible for that event, he did go
on to success in other junior tournaments, winning
both the St. Louis District Junior Championship and
the St. Louis County Junior Chamber of Commerce
golf tournament in 1954. Later in his career Dupske
would be a prominent golfer on the local senior
circuit, qualifying for the US Senior Amateur five
times and winning multiple local senior titles. He was
also a member of the Missouri Golf Association Board
until his retirement in 2014.​

DON DUPSKE

DON DUPSKE
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Post-Dispatch | June 23, 1954

Post-Dispatch | June 29, 1954

Post-Dispatch | August 5, 1953

Post-Dispatch | June 6, 1954



MEETING A legend
WCC Director of Golf Jeffrey Field with Dick Heinlein

June 2023

DICK HEINLEIN
CADDIE FROM THE 1940S-1950S

RETURNS TO

Westborough

In June of this year we had the privilege of welcoming
Dick Heinlein back to Westborough, where he caddied
from 1943-1951. It was such a pleasure reminiscing with
Dick about his many years at the Club. He proudly
recalled working for "Mr. Pfeffer,” caddying here for Babe
Didrikson, and being part of the on-site staff when Bing
Crosby stopped by for that quick round of golf in 1945
that we featured in Volume 3.  We took him on a tour of
the current Westborough course, and he remembered
many interesting details about it from his time caddying.  
He showed us shot-by-shot how the "Babe" managed
par on No. 1, how Bing played No. 7 in its previous layout
with the green in front of the old house on the grounds,
how today’s No. 13 tee box was unused property because
the tee box in his era was moved forward at or near the
ladies’ tees, how No. 13 and No. 17 shared a green, the
short but challenging 100 yard par 3 No. 16, and how
even back in the 1940s there was only one pillar at the
Sappington entrance. He also had charming stories
about pitching pennies with the other caddies and
spoke fondly of his brother, Robert, who was also a
Westborough caddie. Both brothers were accomplished
golfers with Robert qualifying for the District caddie
tournament in 1947 and Dick doing the same in 1950!
There was one more Heinlein brother who worked at
Westborough – Dick’s younger brother Jim, who was on
Ralph Guyer’s greens and grounds staff (see photo on p.
12).​ 32

Dick Heinlein – High School Graduation​ Robert Heinlein – High School Graduation​

Post-Dispatch | July 19, 1950



 A i r  Cond i t ion ing!and
On January 1, 1955, Ray McGrath
became Westborough’s new manager,
although his time at Westborough was
short as he left in April 1956 to become
the general manager of the Coronado
Hotel in St. Louis. He was succeeded as
Westborough manager by Bill
Hermann. However, during McGrath's
time at the Club, he was tasked with
helping to manage the ranging
viewpoints and emotions associated
with a proposed large-scale program to
upgrade the Club’s facilities. A member
vote was required, and in July 1955 the
measure failed.  Yet, after some further
discussions and lobbying, the measure
passed later that year.

ADDITIONS,Ambitions, 

Thus, in February 1956, work began on the ambitious
$100,000 program that included improvements in the pool
area (with the north and west fences around the pool taken
down to be replaced), concrete work on an additional
lounging area (around the pool), and substantial updates to
the Bar, Grill Room, Men’s Lounge, Pool Shelter, and Men’s
and Women’s locker rooms.  And, perhaps most importantly,
Westborough would get air conditioning!  Work was
completed in early 1957 with an open house reopening
ceremony on April 28th.  Note that by the end of the project,
the work was reported to have cost $150,000.​
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Ray Mcgrath

Globe-Democrat | April 9, 1956



Just  a  tad over  budget !

Post-Dispatch |  April 28, 1957
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Post-Dispatch |  April 28, 1957



As we reflect today on the family-friendly nature of
our Club and our focus on providing a high-quality
experience to our members, we recognize those
members of the Club in the 1950s who ensured that
they would chart a course for the Club consistent with
what had been, and still are today, Westborough’s
core values.  This excerpt from the August 
1955 Westborough Chatterbox says it well. 
It was written in support of those substantial
Club improvements that were ultimately 
approved and implemented.​

Fancy Club

Good family club, &
a real friendly club
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In May 1950, the Club published the first issue of its monthly newsletter titled The Chatterbox, which would
be distributed through 2014.  In May 1959, the iconic bird “Westy” was introduced and would remain a
fixture in the newsletters until 1978.

SPEAKING OF
The Chatterbox...

Fun Fact: A parrot was originally used as the Chatterbox header in September
1957. This lasted a short time, and the Westy bird featured on the Chatterboxes
soon became the unofficial WCC Mascot. In 2019, our hawk friend, Tumbles,
stepped in as yet another mascot, but more on that later!
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W C C  H i g h  D i v e
1954 - 2023

LEGENDS THEN, TO NOW!

Make a splash!
As had been the case from its inception, the Westborough pool was a
focus of summer events both for leisure and competitive swimming.
Two new diving boards were installed in 1954, and various
improvements were made to the pool filtration system as part of the
overall club upgrades. The decade finished with Westborough hosting
the all-country club swim meet that its team won for the second
straight year.​

LEISURE ACTIVITIES
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Globe-Democrat | Aug. 16, 1959

 Post-Dispatch  | Aug. 29, 1958

 Post-Dispatch  | Sept. 4, 1955 Post-Dispatch  | Aug. 27, 1958



BOWLING!
As recapped regularly in the Westborough Chatterbox, the women’s bowling
league was a hugely popular activity.​

So what was there to do in the winter for
the women golfers in the St. Louis country
club community? 

                                        champion Westborough golfer, also starred

in the Country Club bowling league during the winter months.​

Betty Reid,

sHE STRIKES

(Literally.)

a

G

A

I

N
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Globe-Democrat | Jan. 25, 1959



Starting in August of 1959, a group of members at the WCC
bar were having so much fun, they decided to continue the
fall festivities by planning a trip to Mizzou to watch 
a football game. For 25 years, this tradition lasted, 
with the trip filling completely every year, so much
so that a waitlist was started! ​

All hands were on deck for improvements in the early
50s. Monte Carlo parties were hosted and helped pay for
new dining room floors and the renovation of the bar,
cocktail lounge, and lobby in 1953. The women’s Golf
Association held raffles and benefit parties, volunteers
from the House Committee stretched funds by making
curtains and painting furniture. Other volunteers
painted patio and swim furniture, and 
committed members tended to grounds
beautification by planting and caring for 
window boxes and flower beds. The 
Greens committee sent out an S-O-S for 
members to attend a “weeding party,” which of course
enticed the members with free beer. 

In late 1959, the Club had the opportunity to
purchase property that became a subdivision just
west of the No. 17 green (surrounding the Curlee
mansion) as well as property just south of No. 15
green.  Despite a strong member turnout and what
appears to have been robust discussion, the proposal
(sadly) failed.​

The 1950s were clearly a defining period in
Westborough’s history, with so many major events
and developments taking place. However, it is
important to recognize the many other aspects of
Club life that made it so enjoyable: ​

Whing Dings (men's,
women's, & mixed)

Square Dancing Family Nights

Or have you heard the legends of...

The Famous Mizzou Bus Trips

The Wesbtborough "Rockettes"
In 1954, Westborough encouraged its members to get
involved in acting at the Club. A chorus was made up of 8-
10 women called the “Westborough Rockettes,” 
and a call was made for members with acting 
talent to help make a show that would “rival 
any night club in town.” Member-led shows
and skits became common-place at the club!

 Monte Carlo Parties

These events and many more were not only fun and
unique aspects of the Club during this period, but
they kept spirits high and strengthened the
camaraderie and resolve of the membership during
uncertain times and big changes. 

Then, as the decade ended and
the calendar flipped to 1960…​

M-I-Z!  W-C-C!
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1958 Aerial Photo Of Westborough

We wish special thanks to these individuals who helped guide us in our research and provided wonderful images to help
us tell our story and make it more enjoyable for you, our readers.​

The Family of Ralph Guyer.  The Guyer Family's contributions began with Volume 3, substantially enriched this Volume
4, and will continue through our reporting on the 1960s and 1970s.  They have provided nearly 200 photos and been a
ready resource through countless phone calls and emails that have helped us record and correct our Club's history,
revealing many details that were unknown or hidden for years.  Ralph's sons Gale, Ronnie, his grandson Stephen and
granddaughter Pam have made crystal clear now fond their patriarch was of our Club and its members and we assure
them that the feeling is and always has been mutual.  We are forever in their debt.​

Dick and Rick Heinlein.  Dick and his son Rick have helped us with great details surrounding the era of transition as
Westborough moved from Pfeffer ownership to our current member ownership.  Like the the discussions we have had
with the Guyers, to be able to have real-time conversations with someone who lived through that period of time was
priceless.  Westborough was clearly an important part of the Heinlein family when Dick and his brothers worked here and
we cannot thank Dick and Rick enough for sharing their family's wonderful story.

Special Thanks
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